Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-23-2014

Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. v. Sheets Appellant's Brief Dckt. 42063

II.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
III.	ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL
	1. Whether the district court erred in its application of the standards set forth C.P. Rule 56, in determining whether material issues of fact and law existed, which precluded the granting of BofA's summary judgment motions.
of fact	2. Whether the affidavits presented by BofA in support of its motions for ary judgment were legally and factually sufficient to eliminate the material issues t and law raised by the pleadings, discovery and affidavits presented by Sheets in ition to said motions.
	3. Whether the district court abused its discretion in rejecting the affirmative ses of unclean hands and estoppel raised by Sheets in their pleadings and responses A's summary judgment motions.
	4. Whether the district court had legal authority to grant declaratory relief in sence of BofA expressly pleading for such relief, and if so, was the granting of such at the summary judgment stage of proceedings an abuse of the court's discretion.
	5. Whether after a de novo review of the district court record by this Court, terial issues of fact and law exist, which are legally sufficient to require reversal of trict court's summary judgment ruling and remand of the pending case for trial.
IV.	ARGUMENT6-21
V.	CONCLUSION
VI.	APPENDIX "A" – TIMELINE OF EVENTS

TABLE OF CASES AND AUTHORITIES

Cases

Ada County Highway Dist. v. Total Success Investments, LLC, 145 Idaho 360 (Idaho 2008)
Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242 (1986)
Bajrektarevic v. Lighthouse Home Loans, Inc., 143 Idaho 890 (Idaho 2007) 13
Easter v. Am. W. Fin., 381 F.3d 948 (9th Cir.2004)
Edwards vs. Conchemco Inc., 111 Idaho 851 (Ct. App. 1986)
Gilbert v. Nampa Sch. Dist. No. 131, 104 Idaho 137 (1983)
Harpole v. State, 131 Idaho 437
Indian Springs LLC v. Indian Springs Land Inv., LLC, 147 Idaho 737, (2009) 12
Matsushita Elec. Indus. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574 (1986)
P.O. Ventures, Inc. v. Loucks Family Irrevocable Trust, 144 Idaho 233 (2007) 14
Reynolds v. Trout Jones Gledhill Fuhrman, P.A., 293 P. 3d 645 (Idaho 2013) 8
Sword v. Sweet, 140 Idaho 242 (2004)
Tri State National Bank v. Western Gateway Storage Co. 92 Idaho 543
T.W. Elec. Serv., Inc. v. Pacific Elec. Contractors Assn., 809 F.2d 626 (9th Cir.1987)
Villiarimo v. Aloha Island Air, Inc., 281 F.3d 1054 (9th Cir.2002)
Wattenbarger v. A.G. Edwards & Sons, Inc., 150 Idaho 308
Statutes and Rules
I.R.C.P. Rule 56
F.R.C.P. Rule 566
I.C. 9-50513
I.C. 10-1201

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arose from an action by Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. n/k/a Bank of America, N.A. (hereinafter referred to as "BofA") seeking equitable rescission of a Deed of Reconveyance ("Full Reconveyance") executed and recorded by ReconTrust Company, N.A. (a wholly owned subsidiary of BofA), which released a Deed of Trust that secured residential real property owned and occupied by Appellants, Sheets. BofA's Complaint sought rescission based upon unilateral mistake, with no allegation or evidence that such mistake was in any way caused by the actions of Sheets. R. Vol. 1 p. 9-34

The rescission action was originally filed in the name of Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. in March 2010, following a year of almost continuous mistakes, miscommunications and inactions by BofA and various subsidiaries thereof, in connection with what should have been a routine refinancing of Sheets existing home loan, which Sheets had held and kept current since 2004 (hereinafter the "2004 Loan"). A timeline of events which led to the filing of suit is set forth in Appendix "A" attached hereto. The failed refinancing of the 2004 Loan, which ultimately resulted in the unilateral mistake that BofA sued to rescind shall hereinafter be referred to as the "2009 Refinancing". On June 21, 2010, Sheets filed an Answer to Complaint and Demand for Jury Trial, raising various defenses to the suit filed by BofA arising from actions taken by BofA in connection with the failed 2009 Refinancing, and in the aftermath thereof. R. Vol. 1 p. 34-40. By informal stipulation of counsel, Sheets reserved the right to file a counterclaim pending the outcome of initial discovery between the parties.

As of the initial filing of BofA's Complaint, the bank was represented by local Boise counsel (Derrick O'Neill). However, after the filing of Sheets' Answer to Complaint and Demand for Jury Trial, BofA retained out-of-state trial counsel (Eric Coakley).

In January 2011, after receiving responses from BofA to Sheets' initial discovery requests, Sheets filed a Counterclaim and Demand for Jury Trial. R. Vol. 1 p. 41-48

Prior to the summary judgment decision which is the subject of this appeal, BofA had previously filed and argued both a Motion to Dismiss Counterclaims and a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. The Motion to Dismiss Counterclaims was partially granted and partially denied, R. Vol. 1 p. 51-65; and the Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings was denied in its entirety. R. Vol. 1 p. 96-103

During the course of litigation, Sheets served on BofA and related subsidiaries three (3) separate sets of Interrogatories, Requests for Production of Documents and Requests for Admissions. R. Vol. 2 p. 327-333; R. Vol. 2 p. 334-350; and R. Vol. 2 p. 351-365. BofA objected to a significant majority of the questions, or alternatively responded that that the requested information did not exist or could not be found. An examination of these objections shows a pattern of unnecessary parsing of words, and deliberate misstatements as to the legal relationship existing between BoA and related subsidiaries in order to avoid providing substantive responses. Further, BofA refused to produce documentation relating to internal policies and practices, none of which were protected by any recognized privilege. R. Vol. 2 p. 360. BoA refused to cooperate with counsel for Sheets with regard to scheduling depositions of employees having direct knowledge of the underlying facts of dispute.

Noticeably absent from the documents produced by BofA in response to the multiple discovery requests of Sheets were:

- a. Any document, email, memo to file or other writing of any kind produced or received between April 28, 2009 and October 25, 2009 by the BofA loan officer (Paul Campbell) assigned to process the failed 2009 Refinancing.
- b. Any document (other than a Substitution of Trustee form, and the Full Reconveyance which BofA sought to rescind), email, memo to file or other writing of any kind produced or received by the employee of Recon Trust Company, N.A., (Jewel Elsmere) who executed and recorded the Full Conveyance, which documents would explain the circumstances surrounding the erroneous execution and recording of said instrument.
- c. Documentation of any kind evidencing how the unilateral mistake that BofA sought to rescind occurred, even though a legally sufficient explanation of how the alleged mistake occurred was an essential element of the equitable relief BofA sought.

After the failed 2009 Refinancing, BoA appointed a customer service representative (Mona Lavario) to investigate the circumstances surrounding the failed 2009 Refinancing and to assist Sheets in completing the refinancing process. However, as set forth in the Affidavit of Jonathan D. Hallin (Sheets' former counsel), submitted in opposition of summary judgment, the appointed representative failed to follow through or respond to communications from Sheets' counsel, and ultimately took no action to solve the problem. R. Vol. 3, p. 383-413.

In October 2012, the parties attempted third party mediation, but said mediation failed, largely due to the refusal of trial counsel for BofA to bring a bank representative to the

mediation, or to mediate the dispute in good faith. In addition, at the mediation, trial counsel for BofA presented Sheets' counsel with additional discovery materials in electronic form (on CD), which documentation should have been produced well in advance of mediation. Much of the documentation produced consisted of electronically generated messages or coded entries, but despite specific request by counsel for Sheets, BofA failed to provide a legend or key necessary to decipher said entries.

In October 2012, BofA filed Motions for Summary Judgment, together with supporting briefs and affidavits. R. Vol. 1, p. 178-179 and R. Vol. 2, p. 180-230. In response, Sheets filed opposing responses and supporting briefs and affidavits. R. Vol. 2, p. 231-413. The district court held a hearing on said motions on March 1, 2013, and issued its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order on Plaintiff's Motions for Summary Judgment on April 29, 2013 (hereinafter the "April 29th Order". R. Vol. 3, p. 414-441.

In addition to granting summary judgment in favor of the bank, the district court's April 29th Order required BofA to set forth a written plan for dealing equitably with Sheets in order for a Final Judgment to be issued. R. Vol. 3, p. 425-426. Sheets objected to the terms of the proposed plan submitted by BofA, R. Vol. 3, p. 469-477., and the district court held additional an additional hearing and required supplementary briefing by the parties. On December 6, 2013 the district court issued its Order on Proposed Judgment and Plan of Implementation (hereinafter the "December 6th Order"), R. Vol. 3, p. 508-520.

Sometime after the issuance of the district court's Order on Proposed Judgment and Plan of Implementation, out-of-state counsel for BofA left his firm without prior notice to counsel for

Sheets or the district court. As a result, Judgment was not entered until March 6, 2014, after which counsel for Sheets filed a timely Notice of Appeal.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. Whether the district court erred in its application of the standards set forth in I.R.C.P. Rule 56, in determining whether material issues of fact and law existed, which issues precluded the granting of BofA's summary judgment motions.
- 2. Whether the affidavits presented by BofA in support of its motions for summary judgment were legally and factually sufficient to eliminate the material issues of fact and law raised by the pleadings, discovery and affidavits presented by Sheets in opposition to said motions.
- 3. Whether the district court abused its discretion in rejecting the affirmative defenses of unclean hands and estoppel raised by Sheets in their pleadings and responses to BofA's summary judgment motions.
- 4. Whether the district court had legal authority to grant declaratory relief in the absence of BofA expressly pleading for such relief, and if so, was the granting of such relief at the summary judgment stage of proceedings an abuse of the court's discretion.
- 5. Whether after a de novo review of the district court record by this Court, do material issues of fact and law exist, which are legally sufficient to require reversal of the district court's summary judgment ruling and remand of the pending case for trial.

Argument

Summary judgment in Idaho is governed by I.R.C.P. 56, which is patterned on F.R.C.P. Rule 56. There are numerous cases (both Idaho and federal) interpreting this rule, and the burden of proof and standard of review are well established.

Summary judgment or adjudication is appropriate only when the movant shows that:

"there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Fed.R.Civ.P. 56(a); *Matsushita Elec. Indus. v. Zenith Radio Corp.*, 475 U.S. 574, 587, 106 S.Ct. 1348, 89 L.Ed.2d 538 (1986); *T.W. Elec. Serv., Inc. v. Pacific Elec. Contractors Assn.*, 809 F.2d 626, 630 (9th Cir.1987).

"Credibility determinations, the weighing of the evidence, and the drawing of legitimate inferences from the facts are jury functions, not those of a judge, whether he is ruling on a motion for summary judgment or for a directed verdict." *Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.*, 477 U.S. 242, 255, 106 S.Ct. 2505, 91 L.Ed.2d 202 (1986).

The evidence of the party opposing summary judgment is to be believed and all reasonable inferences from the facts must be drawn in favor of the opposing party. *Anderson*, 477 U.S. at 255; *Matsushita*, 475 U.S. at 587. The Court must determine:

"whether the evidence presents a sufficient disagreement to require submission to a jury or whether it is so one-sided that one party must prevail as a matter of law." *Anderson*, 477 U.S. at 251-252.

An issue of fact is genuine " 'if the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving party.' " *Villiarimo v. Aloha Island Air, Inc.*, 281 F.3d 1054, 1061 (9th Cir.2002) (quoting *Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.*, 477 U.S. 242, 248, 106 S.Ct. 2505, 91 L.Ed.2d 202 (1986)). The court must draw all reasonable inferences in favor of the nonmoving party. *Id.* "Summary judgment cannot be granted where contrary inferences may be drawn from the evidence as to material issues." *Easter v. Am. W. Fin.* 381 F.3d 948 (9th Cir.2004)

(citing Sherman Oaks Med. Arts Ctr., Ltd. v. Carpenters Local Union No.1936, 680 F.2d 594, 598 (9th Cir.1982).

Summary judgment proceeding is not a substitute for trial of factual issues which are genuine and material. *Tri State National Bank v. Western Gateway Storage Co.* 447 P.2nd 409, 92 Idaho 543.

If reasonable people could reach different conclusions based on the evidence, a motion for summary judgment must be denied. *Harpole v. State*, 958 P.2nd 594, 131 Idaho 437

The burden of demonstrating the absence of a genuine issue of material fact is on the party moving for summary judgment. *Wattenbarger v. A.G. Edwards & Sons, Inc.*, 246 P.2nd 961, 150 Idaho 308.

Rule 56(e) provides that summary judgment shall be entered only "if appropriate." This requirement is of particular importance in the present case, because BofA's Complaint sought purely equitable relief, and was not supported by a specific statute or any case law directly on point. In seeking equitable relief, BofA made its claim for relief subject to equitable defenses, a number of which were raised by Sheets. In order for BofA to prevail on a motion for summary judgment, it had the sole burden of establishing that there were no material facts or issues pertaining to the counterclaims or equitable defenses pleaded and raised by Sheets. BofA also had the sole burden to establish that it had not engaged in any conduct that would preclude the equitable relief it sought. As is reflected by the record of the summary judgment proceedings, BofA did not meet its burden. The failure of BofA to adequately rebut the defenses raised by

Sheets in their motions and supporting affidavits precluded the entry of summary judgment by the district court.

Both Idaho and federal cases have consistently held that appellate review of a summary judgment decision is essentially a de novo review rather than a review that enjoys a presumption of correctness as to the court decision being reviewed. *Reynolds v. Trout Jones Gledhill Fuhrman*, *P.A.*, 293 P. 3d 645 (Idaho 2013). The reason for this broader standard of review on appeal is the fact that summary judgment cuts off a party's right to present its case to the jury and is intended to be the exception rather than the rule.

In that a de novo appellate review involves a full review of the lower court record, Sheets hereby incorporates by reference the full record prepared by the Clerk of Court for Adams County as if fully set forth herein.

As set forth in this brief and supported by the record, there were numerous undisputed facts weighing heavily against the equitable relief sought by BofA in its Complaint, as well as numerous and material disputed facts that should have precluded the entry of the summary judgment by the district court.

Undisputed Facts and Admissions

Based on the contents of the pleadings and discovery responses that were part of the record available to the district court at the time of summary judgment, the following facts were undisputed, and were in and of themself legally sufficient to preclude the entry of summary judgment:

- a. The series of events that culminated in the recording of the Full Reconveyance that BofA sued to rescind was started by a solicitation from Plaintiff to Sheets, inviting Sheets to apply for a refinancing of their existing 2004 home loan, which at the time was fully current in all respects. R. Vol. 2. P. 254.
- b. BofA failed to identify any document required to be submitted by Sheets in connection with the 2009 Refinancing which was not submitted in a timely fashion by Sheets.
- c. Internal documentation produced by BofA showed that the 2009 refinancing application of Sheets was initially estimated to close as early as June 2009. R. Vol. 2. P. 257.
- d. BofA failed to produce any documentation to refute Sheets' allegations that numerous telephone calls between Sheets and the BofA loan officer (Paul Campbell) responsible for the failed 2009 Refinancing took place between April 2009 and January 2010, and were represented to have been recorded. Moreover, BofA admitted in discovery responses that to the extent that such verbal recordings may have existed, they had subsequently been destroyed, and that such destruction may have occurred after the commencement of BoA's suit. R. Vol. 2, p. 354.
- e. BofA objected to and refused to produce any written internal policies regarding the recording or preservation of telephone calls between loan officers and customers, despite the fact that such documents enjoyed no legal privilege. R. Vol. 2. p. 354.
- f. BofA admitted that the recording of the Full Reconveyance was a result of a mistake, and further admitted that it had "no records to indicate why or how the error may have occurred. R. Vol. 2. p. 364.

- g. BofA admitted that Sheets was fully current on their existing 2004 Loan at the time they made application for refinancing in April 2009. R. Vol. 2. p. 335.
- h. BofA refused to identify the closing/settlement agent who was assigned to close the 2009 Refinancing. R. Vol. 2. p. 354.
- i. BofA objected to a significant number of discovery requests served by Sheets on the basis that there was a substantive legal distinction between Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. and BofA, even though BofA was the legal successor in interest by merger to Countrywide at all times relevant to this case. R. Vol. 2. p. 334-344.
- j. BofA refused to produce a single email, memo to file or other writing of any kind produced or received by Paul Campbell between April 28, 2009 and October 23, 2009, relating to the 2009 Refinancing. To claim that the loan officer assigned to the 2009 Refinancing worked on said transaction for over 5-1/2 months without creating any written paper trail was patently uncredible.
- h. BofA refused to produce a single document (other than a Substitution of Trustee and the Full Reconveyance), email, memo to file or other writing of any kind produced or received by Jewel Elsmere, the employee of Recon Trust Company, N.A. who executed the Full Conveyance, which documents would explain the circumstances surrounding the execution and recording of said instrument.
- i. BofA admitted in discovery that as of October 2012, Paul Campbell was still an employee, but failed to submit any affidavit from Mr. Campbell that refuted any of the claims or allegations made by Sheets as to the actions of Mr. Campbell. R. Vol. 2. p. 352.

- j. BofA admitted in discovery that as of October 2012, Mona Lavario was still an employee, but failed to submit any affidavit or document from her that refuted any of the claims or allegations made in the Affidavits of Sheets and Sheets' prior counsel, Jonathan D. Hallin, as to her actions or lack thereof in the aftermath of the failed 2009 Refinancing. R. Vol. 2. p. 353.
- k. BofA admitted in discovery that it was unable to identify the employee who requested the replacement of Timberline Title and Escrow, Inc., the original trustee under the 2004 Deed of Trust, with Recon Trust Company, a wholly owned subsidiary of BofA. R. Vol. 2. p. 355.
- l. BofA was unable to identify the employee who requested or authorized the execution and recording of the Full Reconveyance that BofA sought to rescind. R. Vol. 2. p. 254.
- m. BofA refused in discovery responses to confirm or deny whether there were any outstanding conditions to the closing of the 2009 Refinancing as of October 27, 2009, but produced documents evidencing that no such conditions existed. R. Vol. 2. p. 356 and R. Vol. 2. p. 368.
- n. BofA refused to identify the person or department who was responsible for selecting a closing agent for the failed 2009 Refinancing. R. Vol. 2. p. 357.
- o. BofA refused in discovery to identify the closing agent who was assigned to close the 2009 Refinancing. R. Vol. 2. p. 357-358.

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