Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-18-2014

Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. v. Sheets Respondent's Brief Dckt. 42063

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. <u>Appellants Waived or Failed to Properly Present Numerous Arguments on Appeal, and</u> Those Arguments Should Therefore be Disregarded

In raising issues for appellate review, three rules are fundamental. First, "it is well established law that a litigant may not remain silent as to a claimed error and later raise objections for the first time on appeal." *Michalk v. Michalk*, 148 Idaho 224, 230, 220 P.3d 580, 587 (2009). "Additionally, substantive issues will not be considered for the first time on appeal." *Id.* In other words, the Court will not consider any issue that Appellant failed to preserve. *Id.*

Finally, a litigant may not simply throw his hands in the air and cry, "the trial court got it wrong!" He must identify specific errors of fact or of law committed by the District Court, or an abuse of discretion, that he can support with relevant legal authority, specific citations to the factual record, and logical argument. As this Court has explained:

[T]his Court has refused to consider an appellant's claims because he has failed to support them with either relevant argument and authority or coherent thought. Where an appellant fails to assert his assignments of error with particularity and to support his position with sufficient authority, those assignments of error are too indefinite to be heard by the Court. A general attack on the findings and conclusions of the district court, without specific reference to evidentiary or legal errors, is insufficient to preserve an issue. This Court will not search the record on appeal for error.

Clark v. Cry Baby Foods, LLC, et. al., 152 Idaho 182, 307 P.3d 1208, 1212 (2013) (citations omitted).

Appellants' brief runs afoul of all three fundamental rules of appellate procedure. Many of the arguments raised on appeal were not properly preserved and/or not properly presented on appeal, including:

- Appellants failed to contest the facts set forth by Countrywide in support of its summary judgment motions, and therefore conceded them and waived any right to contest them on appeal.
- Appellants failed to assert any defenses in response to Countrywide's summary judgment motion aside from an unclean hands and an estoppel-based defense, thereby waiving any other potential defenses.
- Appellants failed to respond to Countrywide's arguments on summary judgment as to why Appellants' claims for slander of credit and violation of the FCRA, Idaho Consumer Protection Act, and Idaho Code §45-1502 should be dismissed, thereby conceding such arguments and waiving any right to present them here.
- Appellants failed to present any argument or citation to legal authority supporting their position that the Odeyemi and Haworth affidavits should have been stricken.
- Appellants failed to provide a complete record to the Court, including omitting key evidence they challenge as insufficient, such as the affidavit of Mr. Odeyemi.

Appellants' arguments on these points should therefore be disregarded.

B. The District Court Property Granted Summary Judgment on Countrywide's Claim and Appellants' Counterclaims

Appellants contend that the District Court erred in granting summary judgment for Countrywide because it misapplied the summary judgment standard. Appellants' argument is seriously flawed in numerous respects. Specifically, Appellants argue that the District Court erred because Countrywide had the "sole burden of establishing that there were no material facts

or issues pertaining to the counterclaims or equitable defenses pleaded and raised by Sheets. BofA also had the sole burden to establish that it had not engaged in any conduct that would preclude the equitable relief it sought." Appellants' Br. 7-8. In other words, Appellants incorrectly believe that "as the non-moving party, [they] did not have any affirmative duty to establish [their] case as part of the summary judgment proceedings," Appellants' Br. 12, including with respect to their defenses and counterclaims, which they contend were Countrywide's burden to disprove.

Appellants also appear to believe that any factual disagreement or disputed issue of law is sufficient to preclude summary judgment, and contend that their allegations and characterization of facts in the record should be accepted because "[t]he evidence of the party opposing summary judgment is to be believed…." Appellants' Br. 6.

The standard articulated by Appellants is incorrect, in several respects, including (1) the burden shifting scheme contemplated by Rule 56; (2) what constitutes a material issue of fact sufficient to preclude summary judgment; (3) the sufficiency of evidence required to create a material issue of fact; (4) that only factual issues, not legal or discovery disputes, will preclude summary judgment; and (5) which party bears the burden of proof on defenses and counterclaims.

1. The Summary Judgment Standard

"[T]he purpose of summary judgment is to eliminate the necessity of trial where facts are not in dispute and where existent and undisputed facts lead to a conclusion of law which is certain." *Berg v. Fairman*, 107 Idaho 441, 444, 590 P.2d 896, 899 (1984) (citations omitted). Summary judgment is not to be viewed as a "disfavored procedural shortcut," but rather as the "principal tool by which factually insufficient claims or defenses can be isolated and prevented from going to trial with the attendant unwarranted consumption of public and private resources." *Nu-West Min. Inc. v. U.S.*, 768 F.Supp.2d 1082, 1086 (D. Idaho 2011) (quoting *Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 327 (1986)).

The burden of proving the absence of material facts is initially upon the moving party. Thomas v. Med. Cntr. Physicians, P.A., 138 Idaho 200, 205, 61 P.3d 557, 562 (2001) (internal citations omitted). Once the moving party has demonstrated the absence of a question of material fact, the burden shifts to the nonmoving party to demonstrate an issue of material fact sufficient to preclude summary judgment. Id. Mere allegations or denials are insufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact. Id. "The nonmoving party must come forward with evidence, by affidavit or otherwise, that contradicts the evidence submitted by the moving party in order to survive summary judgment." Wattenbarger v. A.G. Edwards & Sons, Inc., 150 Idaho 308, 246 P.3d 961 (2010) (internal citations omitted). "A mere scintilla of evidence is not enough to create a question of fact that will preclude summary judgment." Id. "The Supreme Court exercises de novo review of appeals from an order of summary judgment, and this Court's standard of review is the same as the standard used by the trial court. Reynolds v. Trout Jones Gledhill Fuhrman, P.A., 154 Idaho 21, 293 P.3d 645 (2013) (citations omitted).

"The moving party is entitled to judgment when the nonmoving party fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial." *Thomas*, 138 Idaho at 205, 61 P.3d at 562. The defendant has the burden of establishing the elements of any defenses. *Chandler v. Hayden*, 147 Idaho 765, 215 P.3d 485, (2009); *Stuard v. Jorgenson*, 150 Idaho 701, 704, 249 P.3d 1156, 1159 (2011).

Accordingly, this Court should uphold the District Court's grant of summary judgment on Countrywide's claim because Countrywide presented evidence to establish each element of its claim, Appellants offered no contradictory evidence sufficient to create a material issue of fact, and the undisputed facts entitle Countrywide to an order voiding the mistakenly recorded reconveyance. Likewise, the District Court properly found that Appellants had not met their burden of proving the elements of their defenses or counterclaims as required to create a triable issue of fact concerning the viability of such defenses and claims.

2. The District Court Properly Granted Summary Judgment for Countrywide on Its Claim for an Order Voiding the Mistakenly Recorded Reconveyance

a. The Undisputed Material Facts Entitle Countrywide to Relief

Countrywide's complaint asserts a claim for relief voiding the mistakenly recorded reconveyance of its Deed of Trust. The District Court determined that Countrywide's entitlement to such relief turned on the language of the Deed of Trust itself. R. Vol. III, p. 8. In other words, Countrywide's entitlement to relief can be distilled down to two questions: (1)

what the Deed of Trust says concerning when the security is to be released; and (2) whether those conditions were satisfied. Appellants have not identified any error of law by the District Court in determining that the plain language of the Deed of Trust controls, and the District Court's holding should not be disturbed.⁴

The factual record is undisputed concerning the two dispositive questions. It is undisputed that the Deed of Trust provides it will be released only upon payment in full of the loan. R. Vol. I, p. 11, ¶ 6; R. Vol. I, p. 112, ¶ 6; R. Vol. I, p. 117-118, ¶ 9; R. Vol. I, p. 25, ¶ 23. It is also undisputed that Appellants did not pay off the loan. R. Vol. IV, p. 637, L. 15:17-21. In fact, Appellants have not made a payment on the loan in over five years

b. The Purported "Factual Issues" Raised by Appellants are Not Factual Issues, or are Not Material to the Dispute

Appellants do not identify any facts pertinent to the dispositive questions which they contend were overlooked by the District Court. Instead, they attempt to confuse and distract from the real issues in the case by raising a host of purported discovery disputes and factual issues (which in many cases are mere speculation) which have no relevance whatsoever to

⁴ Appellants contend that the District Court erred in granting relief on Countrywide's claim because, they argue, "rescission" is only an appropriate remedy where there has been a mutual mistake. Appellants' Br. 14-15. In making this argument, Appellants overlook the substance of Countrywide's claim which plainly seeks a judgment declaring the reconveyance void, as opposed to traditional rescission of a contract entered into by mutual mistake. As discussed below, it makes no difference whether Countrywide labeled its claim as one for "rescission" versus a claim for "declaratory judgment" because it is the substance of a party's claim which controls. *Carroll v. MBNA America Bank*, 148 Idaho 261, 268, 220 P.3d 1080, 1087 (2009). The District Court properly found that Countrywide had pled and proven a claim of entitlement to declaratory relief and Appellants have not shown otherwise.

Countrywide's claim. Disputed issues of fact will only preclude summary judgment insofar as they are supported by competent evidence and are *material* to the claims in dispute. "A material fact is one upon which the outcome of the case may be different." *Peterson v. Romine*, 131 Idaho 537, 540, 960 P.2d 1266, 1269 (1998).

The purported issues of fact raised by Appellants on appeal fall into two categories – discovery disputes and alleged conduct surrounding the failed refinance. As an initial matter, this is not the appropriate forum to raise discovery issues. To the extent Appellants wished to challenge the sufficiency of Countrywide's discovery responses, the mechanism to do so was a motion to compel filed in District Court. Appellants failed to file any such motion and thereby waived any arguments concerning the sufficiency of Countrywide's discovery responses. Moreover, Appellants cannot manufacture a disputed issue of material fact out of a discovery dispute.

Appellants also argue that the circumstances leading up to and surrounding the failed refinance are material to the dispute. In particular, Appellants focus on two documents they allege were fraudulently created in connection with the failed refinance. Appellants argue that these two documents "call[] into serious question the veracity of all other documents produced by BofA in support of its claim for relief." Appellants' Br. 17. Based on this broad-brush assertion, Appellants contend that summary judgment is improper and they are entitled to a trial.

Appellants' arguments are unavailing. As the District Court properly held, Countrywide's claim boils down to the undisputed facts that the clear and unambiguous language

of the Deed of Trust provides it would not be released until the loan was paid in full, and the loan was not paid in full. These facts are supported by credible evidence and Appellants do not contest them.

In rejecting Appellants' far-fetched argument that the alleged "fraudulent" closing documents create an issue of fact as to all issues in the case, the District Court explained as follows:

The court is fully aware of the claims and arguments made by Sheets about the conduct of BofA throughout the loan refinancing, failed loan closing, and all subsequent actions of BofA. However, the court does not find that the conduct of Bank of America as it relates to the failed refinancing and all subsequent actions, to be relevant to this specific legal issue because the court has determined that the plain language of the Note and Deed of Trust controls the actions and rights and obligations of the parties to those agreements. The court need not delve into the specific conduct of the parties outside those agreements other than as set forth above.

R. Vol. III, p. 421. This Court should similarly find because Appellants have failed to identify any error of fact or of law sufficient to disturb the District Court's ruling.

c. The District Court Properly Denied Appellants' Motions to Strike Countrywide's Affidavits

Appellants also contest the grant of Countrywide's summary judgment motion on the basis that the affidavits submitted in support thereof were insufficient. In the District Court, Appellants moved to strike the affidavits of Bank of America employees Shiranthika Haworth and Ronald Odeyemi, submitted in support of Countrywide's motion, on the basis that the attesting witnesses did not have sufficient knowledge of the facts set forth in their affidavits. Now on appeal, Appellants again assert that the affidavits were insufficient. Although

Appellants identify the sufficiency of Countywide's affidavits as an issue presented on appeal, (see Appellants' Br. ii, Issue 2), their brief contains no actual argument or citation to legal authority on the sufficiency of the Haworth and Odeyemi affidavits. Even if Appellants had sufficiently presented the issue for the Court's consideration, Appellants' arguments are unavailing.

"The admissibility of evidence under I.R.C.P. 56(e) is a threshold question" that should be analyzed prior to applying the rules governing summary judgment. *Herrera v. Estay*, 146 Idaho 674, 680, 201 P.3d 647, 653 (2009). Under I.R.C.P. 56(e), "affidavits shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify in the matters stated therein." I.R.C.P. 56(e). A trial court's determination of the admissibility of testimony offered in connection with a motion for summary judgment is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Herrera*, 146 Idaho at 680, 201 P.3d at 653. A trial court does not abuse its discretion if it (1) correctly perceives the issue as discretionary, (2) acts within the bounds of its discretion and applies the correct legal standards, and (3) reaches the decision through an exercise of reason. *Id*.

The District Court properly found there was sufficient foundation for the testimony set forth in the Haworth and Odeyemi affidavits and denied Appellants' motion to strike. For example, the affidavits state that the affiants are each an "Assistant Vice President – Operations Team Lead with Bank of America, N.A., the servicer of the loan at issue in the above captioned case." R. Vol. II, p. 224, ¶ 1; R. Vol. IV, p. 606. The witnesses each state that they are

"over the age of 18 and have personal knowledge of the facts stated in [the] affidavit based on [their] review of books and records kept in the ordinary course of business of Bank of America, N.A." R. Vol. II, p. 224, ¶ 2; R. Vol. IV, p. 606. The affidavits then go on to testify as to a number of facts which are supported by attached documents and records. R. Vol. II, p. 225, ¶¶ 3-12; R. Vol. IV, p. 606. Ms. Haworth and Mr. Odeyemi make these statements on behalf of Bank of America "upon being duly sworn." R. Vol. II, p. 226; R. Vol. IV, p. 606. Appellants have filed to identify any abuse of distraction by the District Court in denying their Motions to Strike and allowing the Haworth and Odeyemi affidavits.

d. The District Court Was Within Its Discretion to Award Declaratory Relief to Countrywide

Appellants further argue that the summary judgment order should be overturned because the District Court abused its discretion by issuing a declaratory judgment when Countrywide's complaint did not contain a cause of action expressly entitled "declaratory judgment." Declaratory relief is discretionary, and the District Court's order declaring the reconveyance void is therefore analyzed under an abuse of discretion standard. *See generally, Natural Resources Defense Council v. Abraham*, 388 F.3d 701, 705 (9th Cir. 2004).

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